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Title Moss House, Elton 

Type Small Farm 

Date Produced 27th Aug 2023 

Internal Reference E18P 

1840 Owner Lord Crewe 

1840 Occupier Edward Cookson 

Tithe Map Apportionments 117-123 & 125 

1840 Area 8 Acres 2 Roods 
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Source : 1840 Tithe Map for Elton 

 
On the 1840 tithe map, Moss 
House was in the occupation 
of Edward Cookson (1777-
1859) who was a farmer born 
in Moston though had been 
recorded as a weaver on 
previous records.  
 
By this time he had already 
been at the property for some 
30 years having taken out a 
lease for three lives from Lord 
Crewe on 20th January 1809. 
 
The final life on the lease did 
not die until 1886 when the 
lease expired.  
 

 

 
Source : National Archives 1841 census 

 

Edward’s wife Sarah (nee Skerratt) was the daughter of a landowning family from Moston and between 

them, they had ten children from the years of 1798 and 1816. Sarah died on 11th May 1844 and a mere 

four months later, the following appeared in the newspapers………an article certainly worth further 

investigation and which leaves many unanswered questions!  

 

 

Source : Macclesfield Advertiser 5th October 1844 

 



 
 

The girl that Edward married (if the marriage actually took place in Manchester) was actually Mary Lewis of 

Moston. Mary probably was indeed 16 years old (Edward was 68) and the eldest daughter of Samuel Lewis 

a freehold landowner of Walnut Tree Farm. (See report M08P). At the time Samuel’s family (also of 10) was 

not complete and Samuel will have had quite a (marriage) challenge as his first six children were all 

daughters (followed by 4 sons). 

 

Samuel Lewis and Edward Cookson will have been well acquainted with each other being of not dissimilar 

age and having lived within half a mile of each other for all their lives. Perhaps this was some sort of 

agreement in that despite the age gap, Samuel got to marry off one of his daughters to someone he knew 

and trusted and Edward got someone to care and look after him in old age? 

As to the 1844 marriage itself did it happen? Clandestine marriages often took place in Manchester. The 

newspaper report would also seem to be obscuring the details by omitting Mary’s surname and not putting 

it in a local newspaper. Having said that, if one wanted to hide a marriage why put it in the newspaper at 

all? Who actually put it in the newspaper, perhaps a reporter who liked the story? 

The newspaper report says the marriage took place in September 1844 (a mere 4 months after Edward’s 

first wife died) whereas it was actually recorded at the general record office in quarter 1 of 1845.  

 

A licence does exist for the marriage which states Mary to be 20 years old (incorrect) and that Samuel 

Lewis as father consented to the marriage. It is also worthy of note that the marriage was not witnessed by 

family members as would be the norm and the licence was also not signed by the local vicar but John 

Armitstead of Sandbach. 

So in conclusion, the marriage did take place but it is anyone’s guess as to the motives. Around this time 

Edward also moved out of Moss House but this was probably for practical reasons as by then, his daughter 

Ann and her husband John Smallwood had six children of their own so it was they who moved in and 

continued the farm while Edward moved into a cottage nearby which was part of another lease he had 

taken on in 1822. 



 
 

 

 
Source : Lord Crewe Estate Rentals for Elton 1856-1873 
 

Edward Cookson continued to pay the Rent for Moss House (Known at the time as Johnson’s Tenement) 
until he passed away in 1859, Edward had been lucky in his choice of lives for the lease as the 14 year old 
Ann Arden lived until she was 90 years old and as such the lease didn’t expire until 1886. Ann was the 
daughter of Henry Arden of Greenbank Farm (See Property M02P) and took to farming herself at Yew Tree 
Farm, Tetton after her husband James Shakerley died young. 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
Edward Cookson Gravestone Warmingham St Leonard 

 
Edward Cookson died in 1859 and in his will, 
he left the sum of one hundred pounds to his 
wife Mary. 
 
The remaining lease (of 27 years as it turned 
out) on Moss House he bequeathed to his 
Daughter Ann who was already living there  
 
 the other lease (which lasted a further 10 
years) to his daughter Mary Buckley (Wife of 
John Buckley of Cherry Tree Farm (See 
Property M13P) 
 
In addition he made cash legacies to other 
members of his immediate family 
 

 



 
 

The next occupant at Moss House was John Smallwood  (1803-1878) a farmer and his wife Ann, the 

daughter of Edward Cookson, he probably moved in at around 1845 when Edward Cookson married along 

with his retired father also John who had previously farmed at Ivy Cottage Farm about a mile away (See 

Property M11P).   

 

Source : National Archives 1851 census 

 

Source : National Archives 1861 census 

Ten years later in 1861, John Smallwood was by now a farmer of 12 acres. In 1868, he took out a lease on 4 

acres which had previously been attached to Crabmill Farm. He had possibly rented this land on an 

informal basis previously and this position was put on a firmer footing at that time. It can also be seen that 

the presence of his daughter Sarah and nephew William was more of a permanent fixture with them 

working on the farm alongside him. 

 

Source: Crewe Rental Books 1856-1873 

 

Source : National Archives 1871 census 



 
 

 

Ann’s sister Mary was the wife of John 
Buckley of Cherry Tree Farm at the end of 
the drive leading to Moss House, albeit in 
Moston. 
 
Mary was the mother of the notorious 
James Buckley (1827-1896) who had 
been tried (and controversially cleared) 
of the murder of PC Green in 1873. 
 
Despite having wealth, James was a petty 
criminal with many convictions to his 
name at Knutsford Assizes.  
 
James Lived at Rose Cottage, Plant Lane 
and most of his pilfering was against 
members of his own family including his 
mother shortly after she became 
bereaved. His cousin Ann and her 
husband John Smallwood were not 
immune from his misdemeanours……. 

 

 
Crewe Chronicle 8th August 1874 

 

 
John Smallwood died on 5th February 1878 and was buried at Warmingham. In his will (Incidentally 
written the same day in what is called a “death bed will”), he left £150 to his spinster daughter Sarah 
probably as a thank you for her help, care and assistance on the farm. The rest of his estate was to be 
divided equally between his three married daughters, Martha Cooke, Ann Clough and Mary Brereton. 
 
 

 
 

 

From a review of the 1881 census, it appears for (part of?) her share of the spoils Mary took on the lease at 

Moss House for what turned out to be a further 8 years before it expired. I should have imagined that she 

negotiated a bit more of the estate of her father as by that time, the last named life had already passed 80 

years of age. 



 
 

 

Source : National Archives 1881 census 

Thomas was a blacksmith by trade (as was his father before him) and originated from Haslington and 

married Mary in 1865 at Warmingham. At the time of John Smallwood’s death he was living in Ettiley 

Heath and I should imagine he worked in one of the two Smithy’s at Booth Lane Head near the Fox Pub. 

 
Source : Warmingham Parish Register Marriages 1865 

 

No sooner had Thomas and his family moved in, he had to deal with this unsavoury incident… 

 

 
Source : Alderley Advertiser 27th April 1878 

 

After the lease expired on Moss House, Thomas and Mary moved to Ettiley Heath where Mary died in 1901 

to be outlived by Thomas by over 20 years. Having said that, the rates return for Elton confirm that Thomas 

continued the lease on the land at Moss House with Thomas Mason moving into the property itself  

Thomas Mason was a local lad (born at Rose Cottage on Elton Moss Bridge) who had recently married so 

the move would give him the opportunity have his own house with his wife and start a family. 



 
 

 

Source : Elworth St Peter Marriage Register 1885 

 

 

Source : Elton Rates Returns 1897 & 1901 

The rates return for 1901 confirm that after the death of his wife Thomas Brereton gave up farming and 

retired to Chester where he lived with his daughter. Thomas Mason already occupying Moss House took 

control of the immediate land with George Hodgson taking the 4 acres which was previously part of 

Crabmill Farm. 

 

Source : National Archives 1891 census 



 
 

 

Source : National Archives 1901 census 

 

 

It can be seen from the 
1891 census that Thomas 
was a wire worker which 
would have meant that 
each day he would be 
taking a twenty minute 
walk to the factory of John 
Pring on Station Road in 
Elworth. 
 
Perhaps he gave up this 
work and started to farm 
when he took the land at 
Moss House but whatever 
he did was short lived as he 
died a few years later in 
1904, aged 39 leaving his 
wife with a family of seven 
 

 

 
 John Pring Wire Works Station Road Elworth 

 

As for Thomas’s wife Catherine, she moved out of Moss House and a couple of years later remarried a Levi 

Stubbs but unfortunately this marriage didn’t work out and by 1911 she was separated and lived her life 

out on Bradwall Road, Sandbach. 

Next to move in was Henry Lowe, another local lad who came from a large family in Elton. His father Adam 

Lowe moved to Elton from Stone in Staffordshire in the 1860s and Henry was born in Ettiley Heath shortly 

before Adam took out his lease on The Croft. As a fifteen year old, he was learning how to become a 

farmer under the tutelage of Kester Kettle at Watch Lane Farm however after he married Mary Higgins in 

1884 (with his brother in law and sister as witnesses) he moved to Northwich where over the next 14 years 

they had 6 children. 



 
 

 

Source : Warmingham Parish Register 1884 

 

As the First World War came along, Hungerford Crewe who was now spending little time in Cheshire, 

decided to sell his estate. As with many of the great landowners at the time, it was becoming increasingly 

difficult to make a profit from agricultural land and a mass sale of property took off around this time, 

including the Moston Estate which was sold in 1910. 

It can be seen that when the 1911 census was taken, Henry was at Moss House with his wife Mary (who 

had been born in one of the long since demolished properties on Red Lane) along with his two youngest 

children, Ernest and Ada who were assisting on the farm. 

 

 

 

Adam Lowe at this time also leased a field just south of Watch Lane (Opposite the junction with Red Lane) 

which meant at the time of the sale he and his son Henry were farming roughly 17 acres between them. 

This can be seen in the Congleton Borough Council rates return.  

 

 

 
Source : Congleton Borough Council Rates 1914 

 

  



 
 

 

 
Source : Crewe Estate Letter Books Ref : DCR 59-24-1 (1910-1916) 

 
In 1913, Lord Crewe spent £50 
on buildings at Moss House, 
which would have helped to 
add to its value when the time 
came to sell. This was standard 
practise on the Crewe estate 
where the tenant would then 
have his rent increased to cover 
interest on the cost of the 
improvements 
 

 

The Elton part of the Estate was first put up for sale in 1915 but much of it, including almost all the 

properties along Plant Lane, Watch Lane and Red Lane failed to sell. In this sale, the properties leased by 

Henry and his father were split into two separate lots perhaps to reflect the fact that the fields weren’t all 

adjacent to each other, 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
        Source : Crewe Estate Sale Brochure 1915 

 



 
 

The newspaper article below shows that Henry had every reason to be very proud of his sons who chose to 

fight for their country during the war and put on hold any other plans they may have had. 

 

 

 
Source : Chester Chronicle 17th July 1915 

 

 
 

 

 

 
Source : Crewe Chronicle 3rd August 1918 

 
 

At the 1918 auction, the Elton part of the estate was withdrawn before the auction and then sold to Mr 
F J Poole (as in Poole Alcock Solicitors) who in general sold the properties back to the tenants with no 
doubt a nice markup in price for his own cut 
 

 



 
 

 

 
 
Source : Crewe Estate Sale Brochure 1918 
 

 

In 1918, the organisation of the land and properties had been significantly adjusted into a more logical 

fashion and perhaps to reflect that Mr Poole had already agreed with the tenants how to split up the land 

and who wanted what.  

At that time Adam Lowe’s next door neighbour was of course his son Henry Lowe and I am sure this would 

be the driver to combine the two properties into a single lot which was then sold to Henry Lowe with 

completion on 10th April 1919.  

The purchase price of £665 which was part funded with a mortgage of £400 from Francis Poole, Annie 

Foden and a James Proudlove of Fields Farm, Bradwall. 

 

 



 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Given that Henry Lowe by the time of the sale was 66 years old, and his wife had died in 1928 so one can 

reasonably conclude that retirement and the loss of his wife were the motives to sell Moss House.  

By then, his family were well dispersed and during the war his son Ernest had joined his elder brother in 

New Zealand leaving him with just his wife and daughter Ida who had married a John Hunt, a council 

worker.  

Henry may have also been thinking about how he would ultimately distribute his assets as there was no 

one to take over the farm. 

 

 

 



 
 
 

 

Unfortunately, this arrangement 
didn’t work out as perhaps 
intended because between the 
original sale and completion, on 
27th January 1919, Adam Lowe 
passed away and was buried at 
Warmingham St Leonards.  
 

On the other hand, by this time 
Adam was a very elderly gentleman 
and maybe knew his time was 
limited so wanted to secure this 
one off opportunity to pass a 
reasonably substantial farm on to 
his son. 
 

Henry Lowe and Family continued 

to own the premises up until 1930 

when he put the property up for 

sale which included The Croft. (See 

Property E026P) 

 

 
 Source : Crewe Chronicle 13th Sept 1930 

 

 

 

Source : National Archives 1921 Census 

Henry hence put Moss House up for sale and it was sold at auction to a James Ernest Davies who at the 

time was a cattle dealer. Henry was by then a retired farmer and living in Buxton. A day later on 16th 

October, 1931, Moss House and approximately 4 acres of land was sold on again to Ellen Barnes.  

In December 1931 after perhaps a change to the original plan, Ellen Davies sold some of the land back to 

James Davies and he sold to her another plot. On the conveyance of the field, James was described as a 

builder which I guess gives away his intentions as to the land he purchased. 

Unfortunately Henry did not have long to enjoy his retirement and he died two years later in 1933 having 

moved back to live with his daughter Ida on Clifton Road. Unfortunately, this was another tragic death….. 

 

 

 



 
 

 

 

 
 



 
 

 

 

 
Source : Moss House deeds 1931 Conveyance 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

As it was Ellen died two years later and for then on, the occupation at Moss House seemed a bit sporadic 

with various people living there, firstly a tenant, Alfred Jones, then various family members.  



 
 

 

 

 
Source : Crewe Chronicle 4th Aug 1951 

 
Ellen’s husband Samuel (a hairdresser) lived there with 
his new wife, Violet James who came from Needhams 
Bank. Samuel’s nephew Edward James (who also lost 
his wife at a relatively young age then moved in with a 
house swap as Samuel Barnes moved to Needhams 
Bank where he died in 1962. 
 

 

 

 
Source : Moss House deeds 1964 conveyance 

 
After Samuel died, the family finally 
managed to catch up with the legal 
ownership of the property with it 
being vested in the names of Ellen 
Barnes two (by then) married 
daughter and widowed daughter in 
Law. Once this legal work was 
complete, the property was sold to 
Derek Whitelegg.  
 
The photo below was taken about 
the time that Derek moved in. This 
photo very much also matches the 
description in the 1930 sale and 
probably very similar going back into 
the Victorian Era. 

 



 
 

 

Moss House Aerial Photograph 1968. 

Chronological List of Occupants and Owners 

 


